THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW
COURT

Deborah Brooks-Durden, Administrative Law Judge
Case No.: 2012-ALJ-15-0042-AP
Appellate Case NO.: 2014-001772

S. C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services Respondent,

v.

Albarr-Ali Abdullah, #191449 Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Albarr-Ali Abdullah, #191449
Appellant, Pro se
Kershaw Correctional Institution
4848 Goldmine Highway
Kershaw, South Carolina 29067

RECEIVED

OCT 15 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Statement of Issues on Appeal iii

Statement of the Case iv

Facts V.

Arguments: The Parole Board's delay in holding a Parole Review Hearing is an Ex Post Facto violation.

 II. The South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services Wrongfully extended Appellant's parole reconsideration dates.

Argument I. 1

Argument II. 1-2

Conclusion 3

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases: Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24, 101 S. Ct. 960 (1981);
Fleming v. Oregon Bd. of Parole, 998 F.2d 721, (9th Cir. -
1993).
Jones v. Murray, 962 F.2d 310.
Roller v. Cavanaugh, 984 F.2d 120 (4th Cir.) Cert. denied
114 S. Ct. 593 (1993); and Melvin v. Nikolopoulos.

U.S. Const. Amendments: 1, 9, and 10.

Statutes: S. C. Code of Laws Ann. § 24-21-645 (Supp. 2012).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the S. C. Parole Board unlawfully extend the Appellant's Parole reconsideration dates?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 11, 1992 in the Charleston County Court of general sessions Appellant was sentenced to a 25 years term of imprisonment for armed robbery, twenty years for ABIK, and 10 years for attempted armed robbery. The sentencing court ordered that each term of imprisonment were to be served consecutively.

When the Appellant committed the crimes South Carolina law allowed a person convicted of a crime classified as violent becoming eligible for parole upon serving one-third of their sentences.

The Appellant initially appeared before the Parole Board on February 23, 2000. Appellant was rejected for release on parole at the initial hearing. Subsequent to the initial appearance and rejection for release on parole Appellant has appeared before the Parole Board six more times with each appearance the Parole Board rejected Appellant for release on Parole.

His most recent appearance occurred on January 30, 2013 at which time Appellant was denied release on parole.

Following his most recent denial of release on parole Appellant filed an appeal in the Administrative Law Court alleging the Board failed to hold a timely parole review hearing pursuant to S.C. Ann. §24-21-645 (Supp. 1992).

The Honorable Deborah Brooks-Durden, Administrative Law Court Judge entered judgement on June 25, 2014 denying Appellant's request for relief. On August 8, 2014 Appellant perfected his notice of appeal in this case and timely filed the notice of appeal with Clerk of Court of the South Carolina Administrative Law and the South Carolina Court of Appeals. By Order of this Court dated 9-10-2014 Appellant was ordered to submit his initial brief on or before October 10, 2014.

This initial brief of Appellant follows.

FACTS

Appellant was sentenced to 3 consecutive terms of incarceration totaling Fifty Five (55) years on November 11, 1992 in the Court of general sessions for Charleston county. The crimes for which Appellant were convicted and sentenced for occurred on September 19, 1991 at about 3:15 a.m.

On February 16, 2000 Appellant appeared before the Parole Board for his initial parole review hearing. Subsequently, Appellant has appeared before the Parole Board on August 20, 2002, August 24, 2004, August 23, 2006, October 8, 2008, October 20, 2010, and January 30, 2013.

On December 10, 2012 Appellant filed a grievance alleging the the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services failed to schedule his parole hearing within statutorily prescribed time limits. See S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-645 (Supp. - 2012).

Appellant's parole review hearing held on January 30, 2013 amounts to an increase of about ten and a half months to Appellant's parole review hearing date resulting in Appellant's parole review hearings be held after 34 1/2 months, instead of the 24 months prescribed by S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-645 (Supp. - 2012).

v.

v.

LEGAL

ARGUMENTS

- Was the extension of Appellant's parole review hearings dates a violation of the Ex Post Facto laws?

The extension of Appellant's parole reconsideration hearing dates is an ex post fact application law violative of the United States Constitution. A recurrent issue in parole cases is whether changes in parole statutes, regulations or practices violate the Constitutional prohibition against ex post facto laws. See U.S. Const. Art. I, and 9, clause 3; and Art. 10 clause 1, which forbids imposing punishment for an act that was not punishable when it was committed, or imposing more severe punishment than the law prescribed at the time of the offense. See Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24, 101 S. Ct. 960 (1981).

The actions of Respondents aren't mere procedural issues. Parole statutes that change the standards for granting parole or dictate longer periods of incarceration if applied retroactively to offenses committed before the change in law violate the Ex Post Facto Clause. Fleming v. Oregon Bd. of Parole, 998 F. 2d 721, (9th Cir. 1993); Jones v. Murray - 969 F. 2d 310.

This rule applies to changes in good ^{time A.A.} statutes that result in postponing parole or other release eligibility. Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 35 and other statutes that reduce the opportunity to obtain parole. Several Courts have also held that statutes and actions that reduce the frequency of parole consideration violate the Ex Post Facto Clause. Roller v. Cavanaugh, 984 F. 2d 120 (4th Cir.) Cert. Denied 114 S. Ct. 593 (1993) and cases cited. Also see, Melvin v. Nickoloupolus. ("This action results in unlawful detention, false imprisonment and this confinement is not privileged.").

- II. Did the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services unlawfully extend Appellant's parole reconsideration dates?

The South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, (SCDPPPS) extended Appellant's parole reconsideration date by more than 10 1/2 months.

1.

LEGAL

Appellant's latest appearance on January 30, 2013 occurred more than 34 1/2 months from the 24 month initial parole review date set on February 23, 2000 as the biannual date required by S.C. Code of Laws Ann. § 24-21-645 (Supp. 2012), as admitted by Respondents in their Supplemental Amended Brief, p.p. 1-2.

2.

2.

LEGAL

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, this Court should reverse the judgement of the administrative law court.