STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court
The Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Court Judge
Case No. 2014-001772

ALBARR-ALI ABDULLAH, #191449.....APPELLANT

v.

THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION,
PAROLE AND PARDON SERVICES,.....RESPONDENT

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Tommy Evans, Jr.
Assistant General Counsel

**South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole and Pardon Services
P.O. Box 50666
Columbia, South Carolina 29250**

ATTORNEY FOR THE RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

NOV 12 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. **Did the Respondent unlawfully extend the Appellant's amount of time between parole hearings in violation of ex post facto?**
2. **Is the Appellant entitled any remedy due to the delay between hearings not causing him any prejudice?**
3. **Since the Appellant received the only remedy available, can this case now be considered moot?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 9, 1991, in response to a robbery in progress, the victim, an officer of the Charleston police department entered a Bi-Lo grocery store. Upon entrance he was shot by Albarr Abdullah (hereinafter Appellant). The Appellant along with his co-defendant Alpharetta Walker, attempted to open the store safe and was unsuccessful. The Appellant removed the victim's service revolver, police radio, and fled the scene. The Appellant was later caught, arrested, and charged with the offenses of attempted armed robbery, and assault and battery with the intent to kill (ABIK).

On November 11, 1992, the Appellant appeared before the Honorable Jackson V. Gregory. Upon the conclusion of this appearance, Judge Gregory sentenced the Appellant to a ten (10) year period of incarceration for attempted armed robbery; and twenty (20) years for ABIK. The Court ordered these sentences are to be served consecutively.

At the time the Appellant committed these offenses, South Carolina law allowed an individual serving a sentence for a violent offense parole eligibility upon the service of one-third ($\frac{1}{3}$) of their sentence. The Appellant initially appeared before the Parole Board on February 16, 2000. Upon the conclusion of this hearing, the Board decided to deny the Appellant's an opportunity to be released on parole. Since this initial denial, the Appellant has appeared before the Board an additional six (6) times each resulting in a denial of parole. His most recent appearance occurred on January 30, 2013, at the conclusion of this hearing parole was denied due to: 1) the nature and seriousness of the current offense; 2) the indication of violence in this or a previous offense; and, 3) the use of a deadly weapon in this or a previous offense.

Upon receipt of the order of denial the Appellant filed a notice of appeal before the Administrative Law Court (ALC). Within this appeal the Appellant argues that the Respondent failed to allow him to appear bi-annually in violation of South Carolina law.

On June 25, 2014, the Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) issued her order. She decided there does not exist a violation of ex post facto; that the Appellant was not prejudiced; and, since he was allowed to appear before the Board there exist no remedy. The request for relief was denied, and the ALJ decided to affirm the denial of parole.

As a result of this decision, the Appellant filed a notice of appeal before the South Carolina Court of Appeals. Within this appeal the Appellant argues that the delay in his hearings was a violation of ex post facto. In response, the Respondent will argue that there exist no violation of ex post facto; that the Appellant suffered no prejudice so he is not entitled any relief; and, this appeal should be considered moot, due to him receiving the only remedy available. The brief of the Respondent supporting their argument follows.

ARGUMENTS

1. The delay in parole hearings was not in violation of ex post facto.

The Appellant argues that he was not allowed to appear before the Board bi-annually in violation of ex post facto. Pursuant to South Carolina Code of Laws, “upon a negative determination of parole, prisoners in confinement for a violent crime as defined in 16-1-60 must have their cases reviewed every two years for the purpose of a determination of parole.” S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-645(Supp. 1986) The Appellant was due to appear before the Board on October of 2012, he did not appear until January 30, 2013. He argues this delay is a violation of ex post facto. The Appellant is presently incarcerated for the offense of assault and battery with intent to kill, an

offense classified as violent pursuant to South Carolina law.¹ So the Appellant is due to appear before the Board every two years. The Appellant argues that he has not been allowed to appear every two years in violation of South Carolina law. Since the Appellant's initial hearing on February 16, 2000, he has been allowed to appear before the Board on August 20, 2002, August 24, 2004, August 23, 2006, October 8, 2008, October 20, 2010, and January 20, 2013, so he has essentially been appearing before the Board every two years.² Due to the large amount of hearings scheduled he did not appear before the Board. The Appellant's case was rescheduled for the next available time which, unfortunately, occurred was three months later. The Respondent argues that this delay does not constitute a violation of ex post facto.

An ex post facto violation occurs when there is a change in the law that retroactively alters the definition of a crime or increases the punishment for the crime. *Lynce v. Mathis*, 519 U.S. 433, 117 S.Ct. 891 (1997). In order for a law to be prohibited by the ex post facto clause, two elements must be present: (1) the law must be retrospective so as to apply to events occurring before its enactment; and, (2) the law must disadvantage the offender affective by it. *Miller v. Florida*, 482 U.S. 423, 107 S.Ct. 2446 (1987). However, before this two part analysis can even begin, the statute in question must be found to be punitive in nature such that it inflicts punishment merely by requiring the conduct called for in the law. *State v. Walls*, 348 S.C. 26, 558 S.E.2d 524 (2002). Without such a finding the ex post facto clause is inapplicable. *Smith v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 84, 123 S.Ct. 1140 (2003), *Kansas v. Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346, 117 S.Ct. 2072 (1997), *Flemming v. Nestor*, 363 U.S. 603, 80 S.Ct. 1367 (1960), *Jones v. Murray*, 962 F.2d 302 (4th Cir. 1992).

¹ For purposes of definition under South Carolina law, a violent crime includes the offenses of assault and battery with intent to kill (Section 16-3-620) S.C. Code Ann. §16-1-60 (Supp. 1986).

² The Appellant's next hearing is scheduled to occur on January 30, 2015.

In the case at bar the law regarding the time line of a parole hearing is not criminal or penal in purpose or nature. For the ex post facto clause to be applicable, the statute in question must be criminal or penal in purpose and nature. *State v. Huiett*, 302 S.C. 169, 394 S.E.2d 486 (1990). It does not increase the measure of punishment, it is merely procedural because it determines the amount of time an inmate must wait between hearings. This delay did not change the punishment, the makeup of the Parole Board, or the criteria the Board must consider. Procedural change in a parole system is not ex post facto even though it may work to inmate's disadvantage. *Roller v. Gunn*, 107 F.3d 227 (1997). The amount of time that the Appellant had to wait was not due to the change of the law, it was just an unfortunate circumstance resulting from the large amount of inmates becoming eligible at the same time. This made it difficult for the hearings to occur during the same time period, so some hearings had to be delayed for a short period of time. This delay had nothing to do with the law as it existed at the time the Appellant committed the offense. Since the law is identical at the time of his hearing as it was when he committed the offense, there exist no violation of ex post facto. The law existing at the time of the offense, and not at the time of sentencing determines whether an increase of punishment or reduction of benefits constitutes an ex post facto violation. *Elmore v. State*, 305 S.C. 456, 409 S.E.2d 397 (1991). The ALJ was correct in making her determination, which should not be reversed by this Court.

2. There exist no prejudice so this case should not be subject to reversal.

The ALC was correct in determining that since there exist no prejudice he is not entitled to a reversal. To warrant reversal the Appellant must show both error of the ruling and resulting prejudice. *Burroughs v. Worsham*, 352 S.C. 382, 574 S.E.2d 215 (S.C. App. 2002). The Appellant suffered no prejudice due to the delay. When the Appellant actually appeared before the Board parole was denied. If scheduled earlier it would have garnered the identical result, so a later hearing

had no detrimental effect. The Appellant was not denied any rights nor damages due to the delay. Since the Appellant did not suffer any damages, the ALJ was correct in not granting him any relief. The decision of the lower court should be upheld.

3. Since the Appellant was given the only remedy available, so no remedy currently exist so this case should be considered moot.

The ALC was correct in ruling that there exist no legal remedy available to the Appellant. This is due to the fact the Appellant was allowed to appear before the Parole Board; even though, it was beyond the two year period found in the statute. The only remedy available was that the Appellant be allowed to appear before the Board. That was accomplished prior to this case even being presented to the ALC. Ordering that the Appellant be granted parole is not a remedy available. An administrative law judge shall not hear an appeal from an inmate in the custody of the Department of Corrections involving the denial of parole to a potentially eligible inmate by the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-600(D)(Supp. 2013). The Appellant was given the only remedy existing under South Carolina law, there currently exist no remedy so, this cause of action should be considered moot.

A decision from the ALC or this Court demanding the Board allow the Appellant another hearing will not be to any assistance. This is due to the fact he has already been allowed to appear before the Board. A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered will have no practical effect upon the existing controversy. *Mathis v. South Carolina State Highway Dept.*, 260 S.C. 344, 195 S.E.2d 713 (1973).

Even if this Court decides to grant the Appeal and award the Appellant another parole hearing, it will not provide any relief. Before any action can be maintained, there must exist a justiciable controversy. *Midland Guardian v. Thacker*, 280 S.C. 563, 314 S.E.2d 26 (Ct. App.) *cert. denied*, (1984). A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy which is appropriate for

judicial determination as distinguished from a dispute or difference of a contingent hypothetical or abstract character. *Guimarin & Doan, Inc. v. Georgetown Textile & Mfg. Co.*, 249 S.C. 561, 155 S.E.2d 618 (1967). For a case not to become moot the Appellant must receive some type of remedy, this is not so regarding this matter because he received the hearing he was seeking.